IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

STANLEY WILSON, Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CABLE NEWS NETWORK, INC. et al., Defendants and Respondents.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division 1
Case No. B264944

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 2 4 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy



RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

MITCHELL SILBERBERG & KNUPP LLP
*ADAM LEVIN (SBN 156773), axl@msk.com
JOLENE KONNERSMAN (SBN 217574), jrk@msk.com
CHRISTOPHER A. ELLIOTT (SBN 266226), cae@msk.com
11377 West Olympic Boulevard
Los Angeles, CA 90064-1683
Telephone: (310) 312-2000

ISSUES PRESENTED

- (A) Under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute, is the employer's alleged discriminatory motive for terminating the plaintiff employee irrelevant (as held by the Second Appellate District, Division 7 and Fourth Appellate District, Division 2)?
- (B) Under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute, must the defendant demonstrate that the plaintiff had "name recognition" or was "otherwise 'in the public eye?"

As to each of these important questions of law, the Court of Appeal's ruling conflicts with existing appellate court decisions, prior Supreme Court precedent, and the statute's legislative history. Accordingly, review by this Court is desirable and necessary in order to resolve these conflicts.

II

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For mainstream news organizations like CNN, a reputation for journalistic integrity and accuracy in reporting is critical to maintaining the trust and viewership of the general public. This is particularly true during

present times where, on a daily basis, news organizations face direct public attacks on their integrity.

These concerns lie at the heart of the present matter. Here, in an exercise of its editorial judgment, CNN terminated the employment of plaintiff and appellant Stanley Wilson ("Wilson" or "Plaintiff"), a news producer who admitted to plagiarizing a story from the Los Angeles Times and submitting it for publication on CNN.com as his own work. By his complaint. Wilson has sought to punish CNN for exercising its editorial discretion to not permit him to write news stories published on its website and seen by millions of viewers worldwide. Such challenges to the First Amendment rights of the press should be dealt with at the earliest opportunity to avoid chilling protected speech. (See Lyle v. Warner Bros. Television (2006) 38 Cal.4th 264, 300 (hereinafter Lyle) ["Indeed, cases like this, arising in a creative context, often can and should be decided on demurrer. Because even the taking of depositions could significantly chill the creative process, by destroying the mutual trust and confidentiality necessary to writing television shows like Friends, courts should independently review the allegations to ensure that First Amendment rights are not being violated. If the complaint does not allege that the offending conduct was pervasive and directed at the plaintiff, and include specific supporting facts that, if true, would establish those allegations, the court

should grant a demurrer. The threat of litigation must not be permitted to stifle creativity."] (conc. opn. of Chin, J.) [citations omitted]).

California's anti-SLAPP statute provides a tool for challenging attacks on protected speech at their inception. Until very recently, the Courts of Appeal had applied the statute to employment discrimination claims with little or no dissent. (See e.g., Hunter v. CBS Broadcasting Inc. (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1510 (hereinafter Hunter); Tuszynska v. Cunningham (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 257 (hereinafter Tuszynska).) The decision of the Court of Appeal below rejecting this precedent is a game changer, and would make this critical tool unavailable to California employers faced with claims of discrimination, retaliation and harassment. This would effectively nullify these critical First Amendment protections in the employment context.

Respondents respectfully request that this Court step in to resolve the dispute between the Courts of Appeal, and protect the constitutional rights of news organizations in the State.

III

OVERVIEW OF CONFLICTING APPELLATE DECISIONS

This Petition asks the Court to resolve a conflict within the Courts of Appeal concerning important protections of free speech established under California's anti-SLAPP statute.

The Court of Appeal in this case held that mere allegations of a discriminatory or retaliatory *motive* are sufficient to take a case outside the protections of the anti-SLAPP statue, regardless of the nature of the *conduct* in which those motivations manifested themselves. (Court of Appeal Opinion, attached hereto (hereinafter "Opinion" or "Opn.").) The effect of the Court of Appeal's ruling is to graft a judicial exception onto the general application of the anti-SLAPP statute for all claims of employment discrimination or retaliation.

The Court of Appeal's interpretation of the anti-SLAPP statute directly conflicts with decisions within the Second District, as well as other appellate districts and prior holdings of this Court, warranting review under California Rule of Court 8.500(b)(1). In particular, the Court of Appeal expressly contradicted the holdings of another division of the Second Appellate District, *Hunter*, *supra*, 221 Cal.App.4th 1510, and a decision of the Fourth Appellate District, *Tuszynska*, *supra*, 199 Cal.App.4th 257, both

of which held that a court should not consider a defendant's alleged discriminatory or retaliatory motive in deciding if a plaintiff's claims arise out of protected activity under the anti-SLAPP statute, Section 425.16 of the Code of Civil Procedure, but instead should examine the conduct the defendant is alleged to have engaged in.

Tuszynska was the first case to directly address the question at bar. In that case, the court of appeal reversed the trial court's order denying the defendant's anti-SLAPP motion directed at claims of gender discrimination, holding that a court must look at a defendant's actual conduct, not the motive the plaintiff alleges for that conduct.

Later, the *Hunter* court applied the same rule to discrimination claims asserted by a television weather anchor who alleged that the defendant television news station failed to hire him because of his gender and age.

Both *Tuszynska* and *Hunter* relied on this Court's decision in *Navellier v. Sletten* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 82 (hereinafter *Navellier*), which held that the defendant's activity, not the cause of action alleged by a plaintiff, is determinative as to whether the anti-SLAPP statute applies.

Instead of following this precedent, the Court of Appeal below relied on a recent decision of the Third Appellate District, Nam v. Regents of

University of California (2016) 1 Cal.App.5th 1176 (hereinafter Nam). The Nam court rejected the holdings of Tuszynska and Hunter, incorrectly finding that they were not supported by this Court's ruling in Navellier. The Court of Appeal concluded, "in our view, Navellier does not require us to ignore the defendant's alleged motive in a harassment, discrimination, or retaliation case. ... To conclude otherwise would subject most, if not all, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation cases to motions to strike." (Id. at 1189.)

Finally, the Court of Appeal below applied an unprecedented test for determining whether a plaintiff's claims related to an issue of public interest, focusing on whether a plaintiff was a figure "in the public eye."

The applicable California Supreme Court and Court of Appeal authorities do not require such a high burden.

This Court should grant review to settle these two important questions of law. (Cal R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1).)

IV

BACKGROUND

A. Wilson's Employment as a News Producer for CNN and CNN.com.

Defendant and Respondent CNN is one of the world's most influential sources for news and information, and is ranked among the most trusted news organizations in the world. (Volume 1 of Appellant's Appendix in Lieu of Clerk's Transcript p. 107:11-15.) CNN.com is the online arm of CNN's production and publication of news programming. (V1AA/107:22-26.) CNN.com attracts 7-9 million unique domestic visitors daily, and from 50-60 million page views globally. (V1AA/107:27-108:1.)

According to Plaintiff and Appellant Stanley Wilson's Declaration, he began his employment with CNN in 1996. (V2AA/346:21-347:2.)

During his tenure at CNN, Wilson produced a wide range of high profile news stories that were published under his by-line, including "investigative reports," "live remote coverage," "breaking news, political coverage, and documentary programs" across the nation. (V2AA/347:3-12.) Wilson has "written approximately 200 articles for publication while at CNN"

¹ Hereinafter, citations to Appellant's Appendix will be cited as (V Number AA/pg/line).

(V2AA/359:18.) Wilson "contributed to CNN.com with original stories, breaking news and companion pieces to support reporter packages."

(V2AA/347:17-18.) Wilson also produced field coverage for Election 2000, two highly rated news documentaries, and other stories covering breaking national and international news. (V2AA/347:3-26.) According to his declaration, Wilson was publicly recognized with "more than two dozen journalism awards for breaking news, investigative reporting, and documentary programming, including Emmy Awards for coverage of Election 2012, Election 2008, and the September 11, 2011 terrorist attacks" among other awards. (V2AA/348:1-6.)

B. <u>CNN's Process For Assigning News Reporting And Its</u>

<u>Editorial Decisions Regarding Publication</u>

CNN continuously exercises editorial choices to decide what is newsworthy and warrants reporting and who should report on those matters. (V1AA/108:5-6.) In addition, CNN continuously exercises editorial discretion in determining the depth and scope of coverage, what to post to CNN.com, the timing of when articles appear, where the articles appear, and what visual material accompanies them. (V1AA/108:6-9.) These choices fundamentally and intentionally shape the message and content of CNN's communications to its audience. (V1AA/108:9-10.)

News stories on CNN.com are often written by "field producers," like Wilson. (V1AA/61:10-12.) Because the public's perception of a news story—including public confidence in its accuracy—is shaped, in part, by the producer who wrote the story, field producers' reputations, credibility and journalistic ethics are also factors considered by CNN in making employment decisions. (V1AA/61:13-16.)

Like most major news organizations, CNN does not permit plagiarism (i.e., copying text from a story written by another without giving attribution to the original author). (V1AA/64:20-21.) Employees who commit plagiarism will be subject to discipline up to and including termination. (V1AA/64:22.) The accuracy and originality of field producer's research and writing directly impacts the public's perception of the credibility of news and information published by CNN and its trust in CNN as a news reporting agency. (V1AA/64:24-27.)

C. <u>Wilson's Termination For Plagiarism</u>

On or about January 7, 2014, CNN's editorial personnel determined that a story submitted by Wilson for publication on CNN.com concerning the retirement of Los Angeles County Sheriff Lee Baca contained substantial material that had been copied verbatim from a story published that same day in the Los Angeles Times, without attribution. (V1AA/62:3-

7, V1AA/65:10-13.) The CNN Digital copy editor that made this discovery, Cathy Straight, recommended that CNN not publish Wilson's article about Sheriff Baca's retirement announcement and that CNN do an audit of Wilson's prior work. (V1AA/62:7-8, V1AA/65:10-16, V1AA/69-71.)

In connection with the subsequent investigation, Wilson submitted a written statement to CNN's Human Resources Manager, Dina Zaki, in which he tried to justify and explain his actions in submitting the Sheriff Baca story—which he admitted contained "inserted passages from another source" —as "accidental," and a "mistake" but nevertheless admitted that he had "exercise[ed] poor judgment," "violated good journalistic principles" and that the plagiarism was solely his "fault." (V1AA/110:13-26, V1AA/113-117.) Subsequently, CNN personnel audited a sampling of Wilson's previous stories and discovered numerous additional instances of plagiarism, raising serious doubts about Wilson's claim of "accident." (V1AA/65:17-66:27, V1AA/73-105.) Based upon the findings of the investigation, CNN elected to terminate Wilson's employment. (V1AA/62:12-16, V1AA/110:27-28.)

D. Wilson's Superior Court Complaint.

On October 6, 2014, Wilson filed his Complaint, which asserts seven causes of action related to his employment at CNN and termination therefrom. (V1AA/1-25.)

Wilson's first and second causes of action for discrimination and retaliation in violation of the Fair Employment and Housing Act ("FEHA") and his third cause of action for retaliation in violation of the California Family Rights Act ("CFRA") are based on (1) CNN's decision not to hire Wilson into other story producer positions at CNN (V1AA/8:2-3); (2) CNN's decision to issue Wilson a written warning for "violating CNN['s] single-sourcing policy" (V1AA/8:13-14); (3) CNN's promotion of another reporter, Jack Hannah, to the position of producer (V1AA/9:15-20); (4) CNN's decision to have Hannah report on "high profile field assignments" (V1AA/9:23-28); (5) CNN's decision to have Wilson do writing assignments in connection with "in-house packaging and fill-in work" (V1AA/9:23-28); (6) CNN's selection of another reporter for a White House reporting position (V1AA/10:14-18); (7) CNN's story editing process (V1AA/10:19-22, V1AA/10:23-24); (8) CNN's decision not to publish Wilson's story about the retirement of Sherriff Lee Baca after it had concerns that the story "appeared too similar to another story" (V1AA/10:19-22, V1AA/10:25-27); (9) CNN's audit of Wilson's work

(V1AA/11:7-9); and (10) CNN's termination of Wilson for violating CNN's editorial standards (V1AA/11:10-14). (See also V1AA/14:3-5, V1AA/15:15-17, V1AA/17:9-11.)

Wilson's fourth, fifth and sixth causes of action for failure to prevent discrimination and retaliation in violation of FEHA, wrongful termination in violation of public policy and declaratory judgment, respectively, are all based on the same acts on which Wilson's discrimination and retaliation causes of action are based. (V1AA/18:8-13, V1AA/18:14-15; V1AA/19:23-26; V1AA/21:25-22:6.)

Wilson's seventh cause of action for defamation is based on CNN's alleged statements at the time of his termination about Wilson's plagiarism and violation of CNN's standards and policies. (V1AA/23:7-10.).

E. The Superior Court's Order Granting Defendants' Anti-SLAPP Motion.

On January 12, 2015, CNN filed a special motion to strike Wilson's Complaint under Code of Civil Procedure §425.16, California's "anti-SLAPP statute. (V1AA/36-58).

A hearing with oral argument was held on the anti-SLAPP motion on April 14, 2015. Following the hearing, the Superior Court granted CNN's anti-SLAPP motion, and dismissed the case on April 20, 2015.

(V5AA/1195-1208.) Wilson subsequently filed an appeal. (V5AA/1227-1228.)

F. The Court of Appeal's Split Opinion.

In a 2-1 decision, the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order over a strong dissent by Presiding Justice Frances Rothschild. As to the first through sixth causes of action, the split Court determined that "the discrimination and retaliation [Wilson] has alleged are not acts in furtherance of defendants' free speech rights." (Opn., p. 10.) As to Wilson's defamation cause of action, the Court of Appeal determined that there was "no connection between the defendants' allegedly defamatory statements about plaintiff and a public issue or issue of public interest." (*Id.* at p. 14.) As such, the Court of Appeal concluded that defendants had not satisfied the first prong of Section 425.16 as to any of Wilson's causes of action.

As to Wilson's "employment related claims,' i.e., those alleging discrimination, retaliation, wrongful termination in violation of public policy, and failure to prevent discrimination, retaliation, and harassment," the Court of Appeal concluded that:

the gravamen of plaintiff's employment-related causes of action was defendants' allegedly discriminatory and retaliatory conduct against him, not the particular manifestations of the discrimination and retaliation, such as denying promotions, assigning him menial tasks, and firing him. (Opn., p. 13.)

In reaching this conclusion, the majority expressly declined to follow the rulings of the Second Appellate District in *Hunter v. CBS Broadcasting Inc.* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1510 and the Fourth Appellate District in *Tuszynska v. Cunningham* (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 257. The majority described these cases as adopting the "erroneous view that discrimination is merely a motive and the erroneous principle ... that a defendant's motives are always irrelevant to a determination of whether the defendant's acts were in furtherance of its free speech or petitioning rights." (Opn., p. 13.) The majority therefore created a split amongst the Courts of Appeal, and also misread *Hunter* and *Tuszynska*.

The Court of Appeal went on to apply its erroneous interpretation of the anti-SLAPP statute and found that "where plaintiff does not allege an employment contract and was employed by a private corporation, not a governmental entity, the only reason the defendants' failure to promote and firing of plaintiff are actionable is that they were allegedly acts of discrimination and retaliation." (Opn., p. 12.) Therefore, it concluded:

Absent these "motivations," Wilson's employment-related claims would not state a cause of action and defendants no doubt would have demurred, not filed an answer and anti-SLAPP motion. Discrimination and retaliation are not simply motivations for defendants'

conduct, they *are* the defendants' conduct. (Opn., p. 12.)

With respect to the defamation claim, the majority (wrongly) emphasized that "the record does not show that plaintiff was a person in the public eye," distinguishing him from the "local celebrities" in *Hunter* or a widely-known anchor. (Opn., pp. 14-15.) The majority further concluded that the allegedly defamatory statements "did not involve conduct that could affect large numbers of people beyond the direct participants," and was not "so grave and scandalous to make it a topic of widespread public interest." (*Id.* at pp. 16-17, fn. 4.) The majority rejected arguments that the public's interest in the story Wilson plagiarized was relevant, concluding instead that the "allegedly defamatory statement to the effect that plaintiff plagiarized passages in the Baca article in no way contributed to public debate regarding Baca's retirement." (*Id.* at p. 17.)

Presiding Justice Rothschild dissented. Following the holding of *Hunter*, Justice Rothschild reviewed the evidence and concluded that "Wilson had a significant role in shaping and reporting the news." (Dis. Opn., p. 3.) Therefore, "if the employment decision of hiring a weather anchor in *Hunter* 'qualifies as an act in furtherance of the exercise of free speech,' so do the employment decisions concerning the work of a CNN news producer such as Wilson." (*Id.* at p. 4.). Justice Rothschild noted the factual differences between this case and *Nam*, and wrote that the majority,

and the court in *Nam* made the error of "conflat[ing] the first prong analysis, in which the court determines whether the alleged injury-producing act was in furtherance of the defendant's right of petition or free speech, and the second prong analysis, which consider the merits of the cause of action. By considering the merits of whether the defendant's acts were unlawful—i.e., whether they were discriminatory, harassing, or retaliatory—the court 'confuse[d] the threshold question of whether the SLAPP statute applies with the question whether [the plaintiff] has established a probability of success on the merits." (*Id.* at p. 5 (quoting *Fox Searchlight Pictures, Inc. v. Paladino* (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 294, 305).)

The dissent also criticized the majority's holding on whether Wilson's claims involved a public issue. Again citing *Hunter*, the dissent wrote "[t]he subjects of Wilson's body of work with CNN undeniably concern matters that are of interest to the public as much or more than local reports of the weather." (Dis. Opn., p. 7.) Noting the majority's focus on whether Wilson was a person in the public eye, the dissent correctly noted that "[t]he public interest issue ... does not turn on whether Wilson is a public celebrity. Regardless of whether the general public is aware of Wilson's name, CNN's actions and statements concerning him—a widely-honored news and documentary producer with one of the world's largest

and most respected news organizations—are connected with a matter of public interest." (*Id.* at pp. 7-8.)

Neither party filed a petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeal.

\mathbf{V}

DISCUSSION OF LEGAL ISSUES AND WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- A. This Court Should Grant Review To Resolve a Conflict

 Within The Courts of Appeal And Hold That The

 Defendants' Alleged Motive Is Not Determinative With

 Respect to Application of The First Prong of the Anti-SLAPP

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