SUPREME COURT FILED

FFB 1 4 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

| IN TE | IE SUPREM | 1E COURT | OF CA | LIFORN | IIA |
|-------|-----------|----------|-------|--------|----------|
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | <u> </u> |

Deputy

STANLEY WILSON,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

CABLE NEWS NETWORK, INC., a Delaware corporation; CNN AMERICA, INC., a Delaware corporation; TURNER SERVICES, INC., a Georgia corporation; TURNER BROADCASTING SYSTEM, INC., a Georgia corporation; PETER JANOS, an individual,

Defendants, Respondents and Petitioners.

APPEAL AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, CASE NO: B264944 LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO: BC559720

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

California Case Law Albanese v. Menounos (2013) 218 Ca1.App.4th 923......37 Brown v. Kelly Broadcasting Co. City of Cotati v. Cashman City of Montebello v. Vasquez (2016) 1 Cal.5th 4099 Commonwealth Energy Corp. v. Investor Data Exchange Coretronic Corp. v. Cozen O'Connor Gotterba v. Travolta Graffiti Protective Coatings v. City of Pico Rivera (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1207......27 Hunter v. CBS Broadcasting, Hylton v. Frank E. Rogozienski, Inc. Lieberman v. KCOP Television, Inc. Lyle v. Warner Bros. Television Martinez v. Metabolife Internat., Inc. Nam v. Regents of University of California

| Navellier v. Sletten (2002) 29 Cal.4th 82 | |
|---|--|
| Renewable Resources Coalition, Inc. v. Pebble Mines Corp. (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 384 | |
| Scott v. Metabolife International, Inc. (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 404 | |
| Tamkin v. CBS Broadcasting, (2011) 193 Cal.App.4th 133 | |
| Tuszynska v. Cunningham (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 257 | |
| Weinberg v. Feisel (2003) 110 Ca1.App.4th 1122 | |
| Wilbanks v. Wolk (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 883 | |
| World Financial Group v. HBW Ins. & Financial Services (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1561 | |
| Young v. Tri-City Healthcare Dist. (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 35 | |
| Federal Case Law | |
| Greater L.A. Agency on Deafness, Inc. v. CNN, Inc. (9th Cir. 2014) 742 F.3d 414 | |
| Mabee v. White Plains Pub. Co. (1946) 327 U.S. 178 | |
| Statutory/Constitutional Law | |
| Code of Civil Procedure §425.16 | |

I. INTRODUCTION & SUMMARY OF WILSON v CNN OPINION

"The California anti-SLAPP statute was intended to counter the 'disturbing increase in lawsuits brought primarily to chill the valid exercise of the constitutional rights of freedom of speech and petition for the redress of grievances.' (Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16, subd. (a).) It has been suggested that 'Ithe cure has become the disease- SLAPP motions are now just the latest form of abusive litigation." (Nam v. Regents of University of California (2016) 1 Cal.App.4th 1176, 1179, quoting Navellier v. Sletten (2002) 29 Cal.4th 82, 96 (dis. opn. Brown).) And, the disease will become fatal to the rights of employees of media conglomerates, if this Court accepts Cable News Network, Inc.'s ("CNN," collectively references all defendants) flawed interpretation of anti-SLAPP laws. Media employees attempting to assert their rights are already engaging in David versus Goliath battles against behemoths such as CNN, with the media one hundred percent against the little guy. Add the obstacle of anti-SLAPP motions requiring evidentiary proof without the benefit of discovery, threats of attorney fees when the media giants win and lengthy appellate delays when the media giants lose, and practically speaking, employees of media conglomerate lose their basic rights under California law.

Applying CNN's logic here, all of its employment-related decisions will be subject to special motions to strike, because its employees' end

¹ This fact is apparent in the amicus briefs already filed in the appellate court and anticipated supporting CNN's Petition. These media employers lecture about the threat to the press's First Amendment rights posed by litigation, citing to cases involving plaintiffs' attempts to compel, to prevent or to punish the publication of news/stories, which have no applicability here. Joining CNN's battle, these media employers' interests are not as broadcasters and publishers communicating to the public. Their interests are as employers of thousands of people attempting to exclude themselves from laws applicable to all other California employers.

Under CNN's approach, whether the media employer's actions "giving rise" to the employee's claim (e.g., actions alleged to be discriminatory) actually "furthered" its right to free speech and how attenuated the connection is between its tortious conduct and the news produced are both irrelevant. The anti-SLAPP statute, however, provides that causes of action "arising from" acts "in furtherance" of a person's constitutional right of free speech "in connection with a public issue" are subject to a special motion to strike. CNN's analysis discounts these requirements.

After receiving "above-satisfactory" performance reviews as a behind the scene producer at CNN for 18 years, Stanley Wilson sued CNN for discrimination, retaliation, wrongful termination and defamation. CNN moved to strike all of Wilson's claims. To determine whether the conduct is protected, courts look to the definitions in subsection 425.16(e). (City of Montebello v. Vasquez (2016) 1 Cal.5th 409, 422.) CNN relied upon the "catchall" subdivision 425.16(e)(4), defining anti-SLAPP as applicable to any "conduct in furtherance of the exercise of... the constitutional right of free speech in connection with a public issue or an issue of public interest." (V3AA/754:13-755:14) CNN produced no evidence demonstrating that Wilson's claims arise from CNN's conduct in furtherance of its right of free speech in connection with a public issue or issue of public interest.

The Division One of the Second District summarizes the parties' positions:

"With respect to [Wilson's] 'employment-related claims,' ... plaintiff contends that defendants' 'behind-the-scene treatment of a behind-the-scene producer' is neither in furtherance of defendants' free speech nor in connection with

² Code of Civil Procedure §425.16(b). Statutory references are to the Code of Civil Procedure unless otherwise specified.

a matter of public interest. Defendants, in contrast, argue that because CNN is a news provider, all of its 'staffing decisions' regarding plaintiff were part of its 'editorial discretion' and 'so inextricably linked with the content of the news that the decisions themselves' are acts in furtherance of CNN's right of free speech that were 'necessarily 'in connection' with a matter of public interest news stories relating to current events and matter[s] of interest to CNN's news consumers.""

(Opinion, p. 10.)

Regarding Wilson's employment-related claims, the appellate court distinguished *hiring* decisions from CNN's later discrimination and retaliation against "a long-term, well-reviewed existing employee that CNN had already deemed qualified and acceptable to shape its news reporting." (Opinion, p. 10.) Wilson alleges "that beginning in 2004 and continuing thereafter, he was subject to discrimination, harassment and retaliation because, inter alia, he was African American and disliked by his superiors. He alleges that he repeatedly complained of his circumstances to no avail." (Opinion, pp. 13-14.) The appellate court reasoned:

"CNN's actions in 2014 premised upon the alleged plagiarism concerning Sheriff Baca are not the basis of Wilson's claims that CNN subjected him to discrimination, harassment and retaliation before he even wrote the Baca report. If we accept CNN's argument as to the first prong, we must necessarily disregard what Wilson has alleged CNN did for a decade prior to his termination—conduct that was not a matter of public interest and could not be justified on the basis of CNN's status as a news entity."

(Id., p. 14.) It found that Wilson's employment-related claims were not based on an act in furtherance of CNN's right of free speech. (Ibid.)

Regarding Wilson's defamation claim, the appellate court found "no connection between the defendants' allegedly defamatory statements about plaintiff and a public issue or issue of public interest." (Opinion, p. 14.) "The statement precipitating plaintiff's defamation claim was that plaintiff

had plagiarized passages in the Baca article, not that Baca was retiring or why." (Id., p. 17.) His article regarding Baca was never published, and his "alleged 'plagiarism' underlying the allegedly defamatory statement did not consist of large-scale copying of another's unique work embodying original research, but merely using a few of the same or similar phrases or sentences regarding accurate background information." (*Id.*, pp. 16-17.) The appellate court reasoned first that "the record does not show that plaintiff was a person in the public eye. He was a producer," and writing for the CNN Wire desk was a comparatively small percentage of his work by comparison to his producing. (Id., pp. 14-15.) Second, "nothing indicates that plaintiff was a celebrity at any level," and "nothing in the record indicates he had name recognition." (Id., p. 15.) Third, "Defendants' allegedly defamatory statements about plaintiff did not involve conduct that could affect large numbers of people beyond the direct participants" and was a private issue. (Id., p. 16.) Fourth, the statements "did not involve a topic of widespread public interest." (Ibid.) Having never been communicated it to the public, "Defendants' allegedly defamatory statement to the effect that plaintiff plagiarized passages in the Baca article in no way contributed to public debate regarding Baca's retirement." (Id., p. 17.) Although it challenges the appellate court's finding that CNN failed to meet the first prong regarding Wilson's defamation claim, CNN's Petition addresses none of this preceding analysis of that claim.

"[T]he mere fact that an action was filed after protected activity took place does not mean the action arose from that activity for the purposes of the anti-SLAPP statute. [Citation omitted.] Moreover, that a cause of action arguably may have been 'triggered' by protected activity does not entail it is one arising from such.... [T]he critical consideration is whether the cause of action is based on the defendant's protected free speech or petitioning activity." (Navellier, supra, 29 Cal.4th at p. 89, citing to City of Cotati v.

Cashman (2002) 29 Cal.4th 69.) The appellate court accurately applied that principle here.

The appellate court noted that authorities reveal "no support for the treatment of employment discrimination and retaliation as a mere motive of no consequence in the determination of the applicability of section 425.16." (Opinion, pp. 10-11.) It did not hold that mere allegations of a discriminatory or retaliatory motive are sufficient to take a case outside the protections of the anti-SLAPP statute. "The critical issue concerns whether 'the plaintiff's cause of action itself was *based on* an act in furtherance of the defendants' right of petition or free speech." (Petition, p. 14, quoting *Gotterba v. Travolta* (2016) 228 Cal.App.4th 35, 42, quoting *City of Cotati, supra*, 29 Cal.4th at p. 78.) It rejected "defendants' characterization of their allegedly discriminatory and retaliatory conduct as mere 'staffing decisions' in furtherance of their free speech rights." (Opinion, p. 13.) To determine which actions "give rise" to a plaintiff's claim the court looks to the actions making the claim actionable.

Wilson does not dispute CNN's right to not publish an internet piece and does not contend that non-publication of an article gave rise to his claims. Had Wilson sued to have some story/article published, for damages from non-publication of an article, or to assert he had the right to change or not to apply CNN's editorial guidelines -- that would be completely different. Wilson, however, did not contest CNN's right to set its own editorial guidelines and does not seek to influence those standards. Although repeatedly referenced by CNN to suggest its free speech rights are at issue, the unpublished Baca articles does not form the controversy upon which Wilson's discrimination claim rests.

Wilson also did not seek an on-air position or role. The person conveying a message on-air constitutes part of the message being communicated, a type of non-verbal communication (e.g., choosing a

distinguished older man or sexy young blonde as a television show host is an obvious part of the message being conveyed). In contrast, Wilson's role was behind the scenes for almost two decades. His connection to the news is incidental to his discrimination and retaliation claims.

CNN is attempting to use its right to publish/air or not to publish whatever it chooses, which is absolutely undisputed, to transform Wilson's employment claims. "[I]f the allegations of protected activity are only incidental to a cause of action based essentially on nonprotected activity, the mere mention of the protected activity does not subject the cause of action to an anti-SLAPP motion." (Scott v. Metabolife International, Inc. (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 404, 414.) "Where the defendant's protected activity will only be used as evidence in the plaintiff's case, and none of the claims are based on it, the protected activity is only incidental to the claims." (Coretronic Corp. v. Cozen O'Connor (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 1381, 1388-1389.)

Wilson's case in chief is not based upon protected activity. The appellate court applied section 425.16 consistently with case precedent.

II. NO ISSUE REQUIRES SUPREME COURT REVIEW

A. Section 425.16(b) requires that the first step in analyzing anti-SLAPP motions requires that the plaintiff's claims arise from conduct in furtherance of in furtherance of defendant's right of free speech in connection with a public issue or issue of public interest. Allegations regarding a defendant employer's discriminatory intent/motive are thereby relevant to determining what wrongful actions give rise to the claims. The appellate court's consideration of the employer's discriminatory intent in determining whether the first step of the anti-SLAPP statute has been satisfied is proper.

B. Suggesting that the appellate court held that a defendant "must" "demonstrate that the plaintiff had 'name recognition' or was 'otherwise in the public eye" to meet the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute, CNN argues this holding requires review. (Petition, p. 7.) That was not its holding. The appellate court properly considered these factors, among others, regarding whether CNN's alleged conduct furthered its free speech rights in connection with a public issue or issue of public interest. (Opinion, p. 9, 14-16; quoting *Commonwealth Energy Corp. v. Investor Data Exchange* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 26, 33.)

Neither of CNN's suggested issues requires review by this Court.

III. CORRECTIONS TO CNN'S FACTUAL OVERVIEW

A. Overview.

From 1996 to 2014, Wilson worked at CNN and remained the only African-American news producer in CNN's entire Western Region for over a decade. (V2AA/346:27-348:23, 349:1-10)

In 2004, Janos became the Bureau Chief of CNN Los Angeles and Wilson's supervisor; news room supervisors also had supervisorial responsibilities over Wilson. (V2AA/349:27-350:3, 350:12-14) Janos was promoted to Western Regional Chief and in 2013 was promoted to Vice President and Bureau Chief of CNN Western Region. (*Ibid.*) Until Wilson's termination, Janos was Wilson's direct supervisor. (V2AA/346:9-10, 349:27-350:3)

Janos showed his preference for his white leadership team and discriminated against, humiliated, isolated and told Wilson to keep up with the "young blood" after repeatedly passing him over for promotion, despite Wilson's excellent qualifications. (V2AA/349:1-350:24, 352:17-20, 353:18-354:2, 354:10-21)

Wilson felt isolated and was left out by Janos both at work and at social events. When Wilson raised the issue of needing diversity in the news room at CNN during meetings and at his reviews, Janos was dismissive towards any such suggestions and conveyed his deep opposition. (V2AA/350:15-25) Janos particularly directed this hostility toward Wilson and humiliated him. (V2AA/352:16-20)

In 2004, Wilson complained in writing to Bob Melisso that journalists of color were still being relegated at CNN to minor roles in the coverage of major breaking news or events. (V2AA/351:14-15)

On four separate occasions in 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010, Wilson complained to Tim Goodly, the CNN Senior Vice-President of Human Resources in Atlanta, that African-American men outside of Atlanta,

Washington, D.C., and New York were not being promoted and that African-American producers and photographers were not being treated fairly based upon the merits of their work. (V2AA/352:12-353:2) Janos played an important role in the discrimination against African-American men regarding the failure to hire or promote them as staff producers and television photographers in Los Angeles, Chicago and San Francisco. (*Ibid.*) Wilson also informed Goodly of his own concerns that his age and compensation package were increasingly being viewed by Janos as a liability. (V2AA/353:1-2)

Wilson observed no investigation of his complaints of discrimination and was never questioned about it. (V2AA/353:3-5; 352:12-16)

After 2004, Wilson was rejected for all CNN positions for which he applied, and Wilson's complaints of discrimination were ignored by corporate HR. (V2AA/350:25-351:15, 352:12-353:5)

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